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UNDERTAKING NO. J8.1 WAS MARKED DURING THE IN-CAMERA SESSION

Monday, January 30, 2006


--- Upon commencing at 2:03 p.m.

     MR. KAISER:  Good afternoon.

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chairman, I think we just need a moment before the court reporter’s equipment is up and running.  Maybe we could use this opportunity to hand out some undertaking responses that have come in.


MR. RODGER:  Just for the record, Mr. Chairman, what is being handed out now are responses to undertakings given last week, and they are J6.4, J6.9, J6.10 and there were two that arose from the in-camera session, JX6.3 and JX7.2.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, how do you want to proceed?


MR. MILLAR:  I think we just have to wait one more moment, Mr. Chair, while the court reporter confirms that everything is working.


MR. KAISER:  Oh, all right.


MR. MILLAR:  I think we're ready to proceed.  If I recall correctly where we left off, the intervenors and Mr. Rodger had completed the examination of panel 2, but I understood that the Panel had some questions, and I also understand we need to go in camera for this.  Is that correct?


--- In-camera session commences at 2:07 p.m.

[Note:  Page 1, line 24, to page 33, line 24 has been redacted]
--- In-camera session concluded at 3:07 p.m.


MR. MILLAR:  Would this be a good time to take the afternoon break?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, 20 minutes. 


--- Recess taken at 3:07 p.m.
  
--- On resuming at 3:33 p.m.

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated. 


Mr. Rodger.  
     MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chair, we are ready to proceed with Toronto Hydro - panel 3.  I wonder if you could first ask those witnesses that have not been sworn in to go forward.  


Toronto Hydro Corporation – Panel 3:


Joe Bailey; Sworn. 


Jim Black; Sworn. 


Anthony Haines; Previously sworn.


Susan Davidson; Sworn. 


EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, while we are doing -- I got a copy of the confidential transcript, and in words or lettering that I could hardly read it said “unredacted.”  Can you ask them to make sure they put big red confidential stamp on those transcripts?  It's very easy to get mixed up with the ordinary ones. 
     MR. RODGER:  Mr. Millar, I don't see the on-air sign.
     MR. MILLAR:  Oh, yes.  Thank you, Mr. Rodger. 
     MR. RODGER:  I would ask the panel please state and spell your names for the record.  If we could start with you, Mr. Bailey, please.        


MR. BAILEY:  Joe Bailey, B-A-I-L-E-Y.
     MR. BLACK:  Jim Black, B-L-A-C-K.    


MR. HAINES:  Anthony Haines, H-A-I-N-E-S


MS. DAVIDSON:  Susan Davidson, D-A-V—I-D-S-O-N.        
MR. COCHRANE:  James Cochrane, C-O-C-H-R-A-N-E. 
     MR. RODGER:  Four the witnesses that haven't appeared before this Panel before, I would ask you to first please state an overview of your roles at Toronto Hydro and the matters you wish to address at this hearing.  And starting with you first, Mr. Black, please. 
     MR. BLACK:  Good afternoon.  My name is Jim Black, I'm the President and CEO of THESL, a position I've held since 2002.  I've been with Toronto Hydro since 1998, and for 20 years prior to that I was with North York Hydro, one of Toronto Hydro predecessor utilities.  I'm a professional engineer and hold a Masters of Business Administration degree.


As described by Mr. O’Brien on day one, as part of our executive succession plan, the focus of my current duties is asset management and work execution.  I'm here today to address the Panel on the state of the institution system, our work force and safety.
     MR. RODGER:  And Ms. Davidson.         

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Susan Davidson, I am the Senior Vice President of customer services for Toronto Hydro-Electric Systems.  I joined THESL as a vice president in 1999 after holding senior management positions in two major insurance companies.  


My areas of responsibility include the customer care operation, which is the billing and call centre operation, control centre and field administration.  I'm on this panel to address questions related to Toronto Hydro's control centre consolidation project and customer services. 
     MR. RODGER:  And Mr. Bailey. 
     MR. BAILEY:  Joe Bailey, good afternoon.  I am the Senior Vice President of asset management for Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited.  I became a Toronto Hydro staff member in 1998 with the amalgamation of the Metropolitan Toronto Municipals and utilities.  Prior to that, I was with Scarborough Public Utilities, a predecessor of the amalgamated utility.  And from 1996 to 19 -- 1976 to 1993 I was a member of the Ontario Hydro staff.  


My current responsibilities include asset management, supply chain, fleet and facilities.  I'm on this panel to address questions related to Toronto Hydro’s distribution plant capital projects and distribution plant maintenance programs and the manner in which they are selected.  
     MR. RODGER:  Mr. Cochrane?  
     MR. COCHRANE:  Thank you.  As previously mentioned, I am the Director of Corporate Planning for Toronto Hydro Corporation.  My responsibilities include the coordination the THESL's budgeting and financial forecasting activities, such as the cost projections which were used in THESL's forward test year application.  


I'm on this panel address questions relating to Toronto Hydro’s budget process and derivation of Toronto Hydro’s cost information. 
     MR. RODGER:  And you all adopt the pre-filed evidence Toronto Hydro filed in this case and your interrogatory responses as your evidence in this hearing today?  
     MR. BLACK:  I do.
     MR. BAILEY:  I do.
     MR. COCHRANE:  I do.


MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes.
     MR. RODGER:  Before I make you available for cross-examination, I would like to ask you each a couple of questions about the areas that you have indicated responsibility for.  


Starting with you Mr. Black, you heard the testimony of Mr. O'Brien and Mr. Haines earlier this proceeding.  You will recall that they had some comments about the state of Toronto Hydro’s distribution infrastructure.  Could you please expand on that subject, please?
     MR. BAILEY:  Thank you.  We are proposing to increase capital spending to address the aging plant in Toronto.  To put this in context, we are proposing to add about 10 million to the rate at which we are replacing core distribution equipment.  That is exclusive of smart meters, CDM and IT.  This is about a 12 percent increase to our average over the past few years.  


Each year when we do our budget we ask ourselves, Should we spend more, and can we spend less?  To speak to the first question.  We asked ourselves this, again, as part of preparing our budget this year, and the answer is, no.  We do not need to spend more than we've proposed at this point.  


In support of that, our long-term liability trend has been continuously improving over the past three years.  Basically, our plant is performing reasonably well, on average.  


The second point is, we have been in fact doing more with less.  We've improved our supply chain to improve efficiency and lower overheads on our material costs, we've enhanced work scheduling to improve crew utilization.  We now schedule better and get more work done as a result.  


Thirdly, we’ve improved our -- by consolidating contracts, we've improved our pricing with regard to external spending.  So we've been doing more with less.  


The third point in support of this being the correct level of spending is that we need to spend wisely.  And to do that, we've had to assemble a picture of our distribution plant.  We've been assembling asset data now for about four years, and we have enough of a picture at this point to know where we can make good investments.  So that's what we've put forward in this rate application.  


On the other hand, we ask ourselves the question, can we defer the increase, should we constrain spending.  Again my answer is, no.  When we look at the state of our underground, particularly suburban residential plant, it went in, in a very short period in the late ‘60s and through the ‘70s, and it is coming due.  We have some part of our system which at this point I don't consider to be performing adequately, and this is where we need to spend the money.  In some feeders, customers are experiencing as many as five outages in a year, and that's too high.  


The second need for spending relates to reinforcing our downtown core, starting with our stations.  When stations fail, a lot of critical load goes out of service.  So we do need to invest there as well.  


A third point in this area, I think it was touched on by Mr. O'Brien earlier, is that we need to reinforce our distribution system because of the impending changes to generation and transmission.  That's a future issue, but it is one we are mindful of.  Based on the information that we have to this point, we believe this is the appropriate level of spending.  


And just to address our point that seems to have emerged, at no point in my time as CEO did I ever consider net income or cash position as a constraint in budgeting.  We've always had the money we needed to spend, we simply need to assemble the plans to invest wisely.
     MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Black.  


Ms. Davidson, Mr. Haines in panel 1 identified one particular project, the consolidation of the control room centre.  Do you have any additional comments to add to what Mr. Haines spoke of earlier?

     MS. DAVIDSON:  Yes, I do.  The control centre in a utility is a very critical part of the organization.  It has the primary responsibilities of the controlling the electrical system and monitoring loads that are being moved in from Hydro One.  They also support our crews during planned work and ensure that our safety practices are being handled appropriately in the field.  They also have the very important responsibilities of coordinating the restoration of power when we have power outages and for any emergencies.         

Back when we amalgamated, Toronto Hydro had six different control centres located in six different areas of the new Toronto.  A decision was made fairly early on to create one control centre.  And by 2003, we had built a new facility in the central part of Toronto and have moved all the employees into one centre and consolidated to one unit.  


However, as Mr. Haines commented, when he joined our organization and saw the control centre for the first time, we have the five different control centres working in one location.  They had different practices, different processes and different systems.  We can't run a utility our size and continue with a control centre that's not properly consolidated.  We need one single control centre.  


We have been gradually working in this direction with our technology tools, but 2005 and 2006 are the critical years where we will be implementing technology tools, such as our gear mapping product, our outage management system and our SCADA system so that we are able to properly cross-train our power systems controllers and have one entity.


MR. RODGER:  And, Ms. Davidson, how avoidable able are the control room-related projects in 2006?


MS. DAVIDSON:  I have to relate back to you, if you remember this past summer, we had quite a number of storms in the City of Toronto.  In particular, on August 19th some news articles indicated it was one of the worst storms we had had since Hurricane Hazel, for those people who can remember that time.  It took us three full days to restore power everywhere in Toronto.  It was quite isolated from the point of view everyone in the city was not affected.  It was mainly from the York Mills area or that area from the 400 to north of Steeles right across through Scarborough area.  So the downtown core wasn't affected, but it did take us three full days, as I mentioned, to restore.  


We had thousands of calls.  We had our call centre open 24 hours a day.  We had our CSRs in.  We had over 7- to 800 calls during that period of time saying that people had power outages.  Because we had five different processes in place and five different methodologies, it was extremely difficult to manage this operation during that time.


I think this really supports the need to have a single focus in that operation so they have single processes, not five different processes.  It was hard to staff during that period of time, and we didn't feel that we really gave the customers the type of service they needed during that time, although we had as crews as possible available and as many people as possible available.  It really leads that if we are going to give the reliability and service to our customers ongoing, we need a single point in our control centre with single processes.


MR. RODGER:  Turning to go you, Mr. Bailey, you identified yourself as the senior vice president for asset management.  Would you please briefly describe the corporation's asset management model?


MR. BAILEY:  The asset management services model is how we portray it, and it's a functional separation between the asset manager and the service provider.  And the role of the asset manager in that model is to assess system performance and condition, and to identify gaps that impact safety, reliability and service.  The asset manager then develops projects and programs to address these gaps, and he arranges for both internal and external service providers to execute those projects and programs.


MR. RODGER:  Could you describe what is driving the capital program for 2006?


MR. BAILEY:  I could.  The wires company, THESL, has a mature system, and, as Mr. Black pointed out, it's currently performing adequately, although there is some concern with the underground cable systems.  However, there is a groundswell of major assets reaching the end of life.  For example, 60 percent of the 450 station breakers that we have in our system were installed between 1940 and 1955.  


This station breaker situation typifies the age profile of a lot of our major asset installations, particularly in the older parts of the city.  And I believe it is prudent to replace those assets systematically over the next 10 to 15 years; consequently, the requirement for additional capital spending going forward.


It's also worth noting that a lot of these aging assets are associated with service to key downtown loads, such as hospitals and office towers.  And the impacts of failures and service interruptions and unplanned replacements are significant to these customers in those areas.


MR. RODGER:  Now, in Toronto Hydro's application currently before the Board, you are proposing an increase in capital spending for 2006.  As the corporation's asset manager, what is the justification for this capital spending increase?


MR. BAILEY:  Much of the increase is attributable to smart meters.  That runs approximately $50 million.  Once you remove that, the increase over 2005 is approximately $20 million.  Although this is not an insignificant amount, it's not the $70 million that the gross number suggests.  That $20 million increase comprises an increase, a modest increase, for reasons Ms. Davidson described.  And there's approximately $10 million in distribution planned capital for the reasons I described, and Mr. Black and Mr. Haines and others have alluded to previously.


MR. RODGER:  And finally, Mr. Cochrane, Toronto Hydro submitted a revision to its pre‑filed evidence; namely, schedule 4-1, capital expenditures.  Can you tell us what the reason was for this change, please?


MR. COCHRANE:  Certainly.  Mr. Chairman, the rate handbook required we produce a schedule of capital expenditures based on the Board's uniform stem of accounts.  Now, in the normal course of business, Toronto Hydro doesn't plan its capital expenditures in this manner.  Therefore, we needed to develop an allocation methodology that would present our projected capital expenditures in this format.  


Now, after reviewing the responses we submitted to certain interrogatories on this evidence, I revisited the approach that had been used in our original application.  I concluded there was another approach that would result in better projections for this specific schedule.


MR. RODGER:  In your view, Mr. Cochrane, are the projections on this revised schedule 4-1 now consistent with the capital expenditures described in chapter 4 of Toronto Hydro's application?


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, they are consistent.  The numbers in schedule 4-1, even as revised, however, will still not match the capital expenditures for 2005 and 2006 described elsewhere in chapter 4 of the application, because under the format prescribed for schedule 4-1, the amounts in each year exclude capital expenditures on assets which have not yet entered into service, but do include amounts spent in prior years on assets which entered into service during the year.


Now, elsewhere in the application we have described capital expenditures as they would be presented on a financial statement based on the moneys actually projected to be invested in a given year.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, panel.  Mr. Chair, this panel is now available for cross‑examination.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  I understood the drill was Mr. Millar was going to go first.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

MR. MILLAR:  I think we'll be starting this time, Mr. Chair.  I've prepared a couple of cross‑examination aids I would like to distribute to the panel.  These are exhibits that are already before the Board, but we've just made some additional copies.  The first is the schedule 4-1 which was just referred to, the revised schedule which is in the pre‑filed evidence at tab 4-1. 


I will also be referring to Exhibit K3.12, which was a Board Staff chart relating to the service level agreements.  I'll be referring to that briefly a little bit later.  If any of the intervenors need either of those documents, we have extra copies, but as I say, you should already have them.


Before we begin, I notice that on the original list for panel 3, Mr. Haines, your name was not on that list, and when Mr. Rodger was going through the evidence that each of the panel members will be addressing, I didn't hear your name, so I'm wondering, is there a particular area you are here to address?

     MR. HAINES:  I say with jest, that hopefully you won't ask me any questions, but I suspect that that will not be the case.  I'm going to support Ms. Davidson with control room and the technologies associated with that control room.
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  


Okay I would like to start with some questions on the role of the asset manager.  And Mr. Bailey, I understand you are the asset manager; is that correct?
     MR. BAILEY:  I thought I heard you referring to him in the third person, but maybe you were just reading from a document.       


For the Panel's information, the role of asset manager is described generally in the pre-filed evidence in tab 4, however, I don't propose to go over all of that.  You reviewed some of it in your direct examination.  Mr. Bailey, do I understand that you work for THESL or THC?
     MR. BAILEY:  I work for THESL.
     MR. MILLAR:  And how long has there been a position of asset manager?  Is this a new position or has it been around for a number of years?
     MR. BAILEY:  I think the position has existed in a similar format since amalgamation.
     MR. MILLAR:  It might have had a different name but it was the same function.
     MR. BAILEY:  It had a slightly different name, yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  How long have you been in this position?
     MR. BAILEY:  I’ve been here since amalgamation.
     MR. MILLAR:  So you've always been the asset manager?
     MR. BAILEY:  Correct.
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  How do you interact with THESL management?   I understand you are functionally separate from other parts of utility.  How do you actually interact with management at THESL?
     MR. BAILEY:  I participate in THESL senior staff meetings as the asset manager.
     MR. MILLAR:  And what about with the line staff and the people who are actually working on the distribution assets, how do you -- what's your relationship with them and how do you interact with them?
     MR. BAILEY:  My relationship with them is through the distribution services group, which is the other side of the asset management model.  And it's through a budgeting process, and the distinct responsibilities are such that the asset manager is accountable for all decisions that are made in the assets.  And that, of course, is based on a number of factors.  


One of them involves input from the service providers, based on their knowledge and experience with operating and constructing the assets.  Then the service provider, they focus on being excellent in execution and delivery of programs. 
     MR. MILLAR:  When you say “service providers,” do you mean people internal to THESL or are these outside contractors as well?
     MR. BAILEY:  We use both internal and external service providers.
     MR. MILLAR:  They both report to you in some fashion?
     MR. BAILEY:  The internal -- the external service providers don't report to me, they report through the distribution services organization.
     MR. MILLAR:  Who then report to you?
     MR. BAILEY:  No, they report to Mr. Black.
     MR. O'BRIAN:  I see.  Do you have your own staff, people who work directly for you?
     MR. BAILEY:  Yes, I do.
     MR. MILLAR:  How many people, approximately?
     MR. BAILEY:  Including fleet and facilities and procurement, there are roughly 250.
     MR. MILLAR:  250?
     MR. BAILEY:  Right.
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  What type of system reliability information do you use as the asset manager?   I see there is certainly evidence about the SAIDI, and for the court reporter that's S-A-I-D-I, and SAIFI, S-A-I-F-I.  So obviously, you would use those in determining system reliability.  And I guess we've heard that you speak with your staff, who are on the ground.  Are there any other sources of information you use to determine the status of the system?
     MR. BAILEY:  We get information from the system control centre on the ongoing performance of the system.  As you mentioned, we use the SAIDI and SAIFI statistics to look at overall performance of the system, statistically.  We also look at the SAIDI and SAIFI information on a 36-month rolling average, because it tends to give us a little better feel about the trends in the system.  And we also look at the SAIDI and SAIFI information broken down by various cost codes.  So we could look at the performance of the underground system separate from looking at the performance of the system related to tree outages, for example.
     MR. MILLAR:  I see.  And I assume, as the asset manager, you are responsible for the replacement of failed components, such as down poles or leaking transformers or whatever it may be.
     MR. BAILEY:  We're responsible for putting together the programs and arranging the funding and the criteria by which that work is done.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And who -- I guess it would depend.
     MR. BAILEY:  The distribution services group is the execution group who would arrange for that.
     MR. MILLAR:  What about routine inspections on your distribution assets, is that your bailiwick?
     MR. BAILEY:  No pun intended.  All the inspections and maintenance programs are set up by the asset manager.  So the asset management function does issue all the inspection cycles and all the units or items of maintenance that have to be carried out.
     MR. MILLAR:  And I assume, in some fashion, you monitor the age of all your components.  Would you have records of all that?
     MR. BAILEY:  Over the past few years we've implemented a very robust enterprise resource planning system, and it is asset-centric in that it has a very robust asset registry.  And we have been populating it systematically since amalgamation.  


And you will appreciate that when you amalgamation six utilities, there's several different technology platforms and the information comes in several different forms, and of course some information is missing.  So we have collected and gathered a lot of information and are gradually building the asset registry to be very robust.
     MR. MILLAR:  Do you tailor your inspection program in anyway so that it, I guess, hits the older assets more often, or anything of that nature?
     MR. BAILEY:  We've moved to a reliability-centered maintenance methodology, so all major classes of assets have specific inspection cycles and maintenance program perspectives.
     MR. MILLAR:  Would one of the inputs in that program be the age of the asset or is it just the classification of the asset?
     MR. BAILEY:  I would say it's the classification of the asset, but age would be a factor that's taken into consideration when they are working out the reliability-centred maintenance regimen.
     MR. MILLAR:  So would it be fair to assume that the older poles get looked at more often than brand new poles?
     MR. BAILEY:  No, I think we have maintenance regimens for all our plant.  When the field groups go there, they may not put the same effort into looking at a new pole as they would an old pole, for example.
     MR. MILLAR:  But that doesn't necessarily mean they are scheduled to inspect the older pole more often?
     MR. BAILEY:  No.
     MR. MILLAR:  Do you keep track of component failures by age, by age of the asset?  
     MR. BAILEY:  Yes, we do.
     MR. MILLAR:  And I can only assume older assets tend to fail more often than newer assets.  Would you agree with that?
     MR. BAILEY:  It depends on the asset.
     MR. MILLAR:  What types of assets might the newer assets fail more frequently?
     MR. BAILEY:  For example, we have a lot of transformers and stations on our system, and the transformers are monitored on a regular basis and they are inspected.  So we have a very good sense as to how they are performing and, in fact, if there is some problem with them, generally, we would have some indication that there was a problem and have the opportunity to take them out of service before they fail.  


On the other hand, if you're looking at underground cable systems, it's a little bit different.  There's very little diagnostic testing that can be done, so you are more likely to start noticing failure trends ever off the cable itself or the component.  And then you would look at the risk, look at the safety, look at the cost and make the appropriate investment decisions on when to take them out and at what rate.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I'm not sure I have a clear answer though.  Just as a general proposition, would you agree with me that older assets tend to that fail more often than newer assets?
     MR. BAILEY:  True.
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  I would like to look at your capital investment plan.  I've seen you sitting in the room.  I'm going to read you a quote from Mr. Haines, and this was on volume 2 of the transcript, and I think Mr. Warren read it the other day.  It was day 1 of the hearing, volume 1 of the transcript.  I think is from the motion's day.  But the reference is page 44, and it's starting at 19.  There was a question by me, and I'll read it in full.  My question was?

"Is there -- are you doing your capital spending on sort of a year-by-year basis or do you have a long‑term plan for capital spending?"  


Mr. Haines responded:

"We don't currently have a definitive long-term strategy plan, per se, a comprehensive plan, but we are -- right now we are doing -- this application is done on a year‑by‑year basis."


And then I ask:

"Are you working on a long‑term?"


Mr. Haines responded "Yes".


And you were here when Mr. Haines gave that evidence; is that correct?


MR. BAILEY:  Yes, I was.


MR. MILLAR:  And you will agree with Mr. Haines that you are currently working on a long‑term capital investment plan?


MR. BAILEY:  Yes, we are.


MR. MILLAR:  Can you tell us what the status is of that plan?


MR. BAILEY:  We have some preliminary drafts of parts of the plan.  For example, we would of some sense of the age profile of all our power transformers in stations downtown, and we would have done some preliminary analysis of what we might expect from them over the next several years, given the lumpiness of the original investment to install them, given what kind of industry experience there is with failure rates on these transformers, what kinds of loadings there are on those transformers.  


So we would have preliminary indications in all our major asset areas as to where we can expect to have to invest going forward.


MR. MILLAR:  So assume these are inputs into the investment plan but --


MR. BAILEY:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  -- when I was asking about a capital investment plan, I guess I was assuming there is a document that comes out of an end, a plan, for lack of a better word.  Are you producing a document that will lay out your expenditures over a number of years?


MR. BAILEY:  We will be producing a document that will lay out the expenditures over a number of years.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you know when that document will be completed?


MR. BAILEY:  Mid year.


MR. MILLAR:  Mid year 2006?


MR. BAILEY:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Are you responsible for that plan, for preparing the plan?


MR. BAILEY:  Yes, I am.


MR. MILLAR:  How long have you been working ‑‑ maybe I should back up a step.  Has THESL, the amalgamated utility, ever had a capital investment plan that set out a multi-year plan for capital investments?


MR. BAILEY:  Not an integrated plan.


MR. MILLAR:  Were there separate plans by the individual pre‑amalgamated utilities?


MR. BAILEY:  I can only speak to one of the utilities, and there were -- often times they -- like, a 25-year plan, for example, to replace 4 kV, but I would speculate that a lot of those plans are not applicable today.


MR. MILLAR:  How long have you been working on this new capital investment plan?


MR. BAILEY:  This particular plan, we've probably been working on it for four, five months.


MR. MILLAR:  And how far out will the plan go?  Is it a five-year, a ten-year plan?


MR. BAILEY:  This plan will be ‑‑ we're calling it a ten‑year plan.


MR. MILLAR:  When you say you are calling it a ten‑year plan -- 


MR. BAILEY:  It will be a ten-year plan, but these plans are living plans.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I understand.


MR. BAILEY:  So it will be renewed annually.


MR. MILLAR:  So it's a plan going forward that, for example, every year there will be an updated version of the capital investment plan?


MR. BAILEY:  Yes, because circumstances change every year.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I understand.  In the absence of having a long-term plan, what impact does that have on your ‑‑ I guess you're sort of doing it on a year‑by‑year basis currently.  For example, 2005 isn't done with reference to a longer-term plan?


MR. BAILEY:  Well, there are components of it where we have some visibility out beyond the current year.  For example, Mr. Black talked about the cable failure trends.  So we will be stepping up our investment in the cable area based on the current situation and system performance.


MR. MILLAR:  Have you found it difficult to do a one‑year plan without the benefit of having that ten-year forward-looking document to guide you as to what the long-term needs of the system may be?


MR. BAILEY:  I think our staff has a really good sense of the long-term needs of the system, and I think we talked about them in general terms, age of plant, system performance, risks, low risk, high-impact situations.  So we have a good sense of what needs to be done.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Now, looking at 2005, we heard a little bit of this on your direct examination, but can you tell me -- just give me an overview of what the drivers are for your decisions regarding capital investments in 2005.  I guess what I'm asking is how you are setting your priorities for investments this year ‑‑ I'm sorry, 2006.


MR. BAILEY:  Okay.  The project prioritization is all done through the budgeting process, and there are a number of projects, such as service connections, that is part of our obligation to serve.  So those are looked at in terms of potential to address other issues that might be add-ons, for example, if there's a service connection project that may involve a 50‑year‑old plant, so there may be some opportunities to piggyback on that.  


We have incremental load growth in the service territories, so there is information that comes in from the operating people that talks to the loading of a system and system components.  So incremental load drives overload situations on plant.  That drives capital projects.  Then there's the age of assets and failure performance, which also drives investments.  


And as each investment is identified, then we would do some work in terms of the relative risk, what impact it will have on reliability and what impact it will have on safety, and we use all those factors in terms of prioritizing the work to see how we can optimize the value we get for the investment.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you develop a list of projects?


MR. BAILEY:  There is a list of projects.


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe walk me through the budgeting process.  I understand you would develop the list of projects that you would like to see done in any particular year, but I guess we're talking about 2006.


MR. BAILEY:  Well, asset management function develops a list of projects.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And then who do you go to secure the funding for those projects?


MR. BAILEY:  Go through the budgeting process, so it would be approved by -- through the chain of command.  So my boss is Mr. Black.  Then the budgeting process involves presentation of our projections on programs and projects to a panel.  That involves Mr. Black, Mr. Haines and Mr. Couillard.


MR. MILLAR:  So you present a plan, and that plan is approved by Mr. Black; is that correct?


MR. BAILEY:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Or potentially.  I guess in every year, I assume not every project is approved; is that fair?


MR. BAILEY:  That's right.


MR. MILLAR:  Are any of these projects you bring forward -- are they multi-year plans?


MR. BAILEY:  We bring forward a lot of multi-year ‑‑ we might bring forward a three-year rebuild program, for example.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you do the budgeting at three years out, or is it every year when it comes up, you do the budgeting for that particular year of the project?


MR. BAILEY:  We would do the budgeting for that year of the project, but we would have an outline of what the total project costs would be.


MR. MILLAR:  Now, the lack of a long‑term plan to date, has that had any impact on these decisions multi-year plans?


MR. BAILEY:  I don't believe so.


MR. MILLAR:  Now, you mentioned that the final call on whether a particular capital project will go forward goes to Mr. Black.  Is it just you, Mr. Black, or is that in consultation --


MR. BLACK:  No, the budget -- in fact, all budgets come forward to a panel of myself, Mr. Haines and Mr. Couillard.


MR. MILLAR:  And you look at each project and determine if --


MR. BLACK:  Each business unit brings forward their budget proposal, and then in this case, talking about capital, we would review the capital budget proposed by Mr. Bailey and his people.


MR. MILLAR:  And you would review each of the individual components of that, I assume?


MR. BLACK:  We're usually looking at pools of spending level and the performance of the system and basically looking to a line the investment required to sustain and improvement performance.

     MR. MILLAR:  For 2006, were any of the projects that were recommended by Mr. Bailey rejected, or deferred for that matter?
     MR. BLACK:  No, I believe the capital budget put forward by Mr. Bailey was approved.
     MR. MILLAR:  It went through without any changes?
     MR. BAILEY:  That's true.
     MR. MILLAR:  What about for 2005, if you recall?  
     MR. BAILEY:  Same.
     MR. MILLAR:  So there were no changes from the plan you brought forward.
     MR. BAILEY:  There are projects that change through the year.  As you will appreciate, some of our projects are pools of a few million dollars, and it may be to replace failed components in the system.  So based on past experience, we know that there's going to be a certain amount of funding required, for example, to replace failed cables.  So we set up project pots of money to address some of those issues.  


And then a lot of the projects are very specific projects to do with a specific rebuild in a specific area or a specific load capacity increase in the specific area.
     MR. BLACK:  Mr. Haines has pointed out to me that, in fact, he believes we cut some general plant, being building facility investment, but not distribution core.
     MR. MILLAR:  I see, and that was for 2006 or 2005?
     MR. BLACK:  That was for 2006.
     MR. MILLAR:  What were those cuts?
     MR. BLACK:  They were related to investments in our office buildings.
     MR. MILLAR:  So additions to the building?  What types of things?
     MR. BLACK:  Basically, aesthetic or cosmetic, improvements.
     MR. MILLAR:  Do you recall why those were rejected, or were they deferred?
     MR. BLACK:  I think it was just we didn't deem it was an adequate business case.
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  


I’d like to read another line from the transcript.  This again was referred to by Mr. Warren the other day.  Same volume of the transcript, again it's quote from Mr. Haines.  It's at page 7, starting at line 1.  I'll read it into the record again.  

“Mr. Haines:   30 to 40 percent of our plant that’s in service today has exceeded its expected life.  In fact, the investment that is found within this application does not change that trend.  In other words, even with the application amount of investment the plan continues to age at a rate greater than the re-investment in the plant, which is a real challenge for us, and we are now turning our minds around how we, orderly, change the trend over a number of years."        


And Mr. Bailey, you were here when Mr. Haines said that?
     MR. BAILEY:  Yes, I was.
     MR. MILLAR:  It strikes me as -- given these comments, can you tell us why you are not seeking to spend more on capital investments?
     MR. BAILEY:  We are seeking to spend more.  We spend slightly more in 2005, and we are applying under this rate filing to spend more in 2006, with the intention as we get a really good handle on what the requirements that we will ramp that up.  The other aspect of that is that even though some of these assets are old -- the profile I mentioned earlier about how they were installed, all installed in chunks over 10- or 15-year period.  And because the system is performing what we feel is adequate in most areas now, I don't believe it's prudent to go out and spend a whole bunch of capital to replace assets that are performing adequately.  


And the one area that we have alluded to on several occasions that's requiring possibly accelerated investment is the underground cable system, particularly the direct buried cable, because we're seeing over the last three years worsening trends in terms of its service performance.
     MR. MILLAR:  Is the lack of a long-term plan having any impact on the expenditures this year?  
     MR. BAILEY:  No.
     MR. MILLAR:  I guess I'm still having a little bit of difficulty, and you're answer has been helpful.  But if I understand, even with the increase this year, and we'll get to that, I think if you back out smart meters, it is something in the range of 23 or 24 million over 2005.
     MR. BAILEY:  You have to back out the general plant as well.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I guess we'll get to those numbers.  There is an increase over 2005.  But even with these increases, the plant is still getting older faster than you are replacing it, and you've indicated you do wish to replace it all.  Is there not a case to be made that you should be ramping up the expenditures earlier rather than later?
     MR. BAILEY:  As I mentioned, I think the approach that we're taking is prudent and the asset management function is really there to balance the risk, balance that with safety and cost and performance, and to make the right investments at the right time.
     MR. MILLAR:  How long has the system been getting older faster than you've been able to replace it?   How many years has this trend been going on for?  
     MR. BAILEY:  Could you repeat the question, please, Mr. Millar?   
     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Mr. Haines indicated that in 2006, despite the increase in the spending on capital expenditures, the plant continues to age at a rate greater than the re-investment in the plant.  And I'm wondering if you can tell me how many years, going backwards, this has been going on, how many years the plant has been aging faster than you have been replacing it.
     MR. BAILEY:  I don't know that exactly, but age of plant is just one indicator of plant performance.  And as I mentioned, the system performance has been good.  In fact, the SAIDI has been decreasing slightly over the past six years.  And we feel that we can manage a lot of the aging assets to get the most out of them before the end of their useful life.  


The one that we're particularly concerned about now, as I mentioned, is the underground cable system.  And again, monitoring it and watching the performance has been the biggest driver to accelerate spending in that area.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.  I understand that age of plant is only one of the factors that affects the system reliability, but just to get back to my question.  Has it been the case, since you started as asset manager, that the utility has been -- that the plant has been, overall, aging faster than you replace it?
     MR. BAILEY:  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, when did you start again?  I apologize
     MR. BAILEY:  '98.
     MR. MILLAR:  1998.  Thank you.  We've been speaking a little bit about expected life of assets and how old assets can get.  And I understand obviously assets will have an expected life, but in many cases it seems they exceed this expected life; is that correct?
     MR. BAILEY:  That's true.
     MR. MILLAR:  Is the expected life the same as the depreciation value?  I guess by which I mean --
     MR. BAILEY:  No, there is no connection.
     MR. MILLAR:  So the amount of time an asset takes to depreciate does not relate to its expected life?
     MR. BAILEY:  No.
     MR. MILLAR:  So poles, I think, might depreciate over 40 years.  That doesn't mean they have a 40-year expected life?
     MR. BAILEY:  I don’t think they depreciate over 40 years, I think it's something less.
     MR. MILLAR:  Whatever the number is, the two won't match.
     MR. BAILEY:  Right.
     MR. MILLAR:  So how do you determine what expected life is?
     MR. BAILEY:  Expected life is primarily a function of information we get from manufacturers.  It is industry information, the experience our people, it's based on how an asset class is performing.  So all those go into determining what the expected life is.  


And one of the roles that asset management, of course, is to extend the life of equipment.  Some equipment, the life is to large degree dependent on how it is loaded.  So transformers, for example, if transformers are not overloaded, then the life can be expected to be much longer.  On the other hand, if a transformer is overloaded, then insulation damage can severely shorten life.  


So there's a lot of factors go into when you expect assets to reach the end of useful life.  So all this has to be taken into consideration.  So a well-designed system that's been well run is likely to be able to extend its assets beyond those of the system that's overloaded and not maintained and not rebuilt in the proper fashion.
     MR. MILLAR:  Does the expected life of an asset actually bare any relation to when that asset is replaced, or is it just weather it's still working or not?
 
MR. BAILEY:  I think, to some degree, it depends on the asset class.  Like, the major equipment we have in stations, we manage the life of that, I think, extremely well.  Underground cable systems, on the other hand, is a different technology.  A lot of the cable systems operate in a different environment.  Some are direct buried.  Some are jacketed.  Some are in concrete-encased ducts.  They all behave differently, and the technologies that were current at the time the plant was put were different.  So we look at -- we have to look at each asset or subcomponent of an asset individually.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Mr. Adams had some questions of panel 1, and this related to an interrogatory response they had and I think it was Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 4.  I don't know that you need to pull it up.  I believe the answer in that interrogatory that there are no poles and no overhead transformers older than 1950.


MR. BAILEY:  I think it said 1930.


MR. MILLAR:  1930, my apologies.  Mr. Adams pointed out that, in fact, there did appear to be certain assets that were of an older vintage.


MR. BAILEY:  I could -- there may be some issues with records before 1930 and how they got transcribed.  Another item is a lot of the poles on the system may be owned by entities other than Toronto Hydro.  For example, Bell Canada owns a lot of poles in the system for which we pay an occupancy fee or a joint use rate, and we're on their poles.  So you would have to know if it was a Toronto Hydro pole or a Bell Canada pole.  


It's conceivable that a wood pole could last, what is it, 75, 76 years, but it's not likely.  It's conceivable, so I couldn't deny that there are not some of them out there.  I wish we had more of them.


MR. MILLAR:  Is it possible that some of this results from the amalgamation of the six predecessor utilities?  Are there any records that still haven't been put together, or are there any boxes of records you still have to go through to make sure you have all the correct data, or is that process complete?


MR. BAILEY:  I think we've completed the process for major assets.  Some information is contained on drawings and on maps, and because of the nature of the asset some that may not be worth putting into the systems.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I'm going to move to a new area.  I see we are at 4:25.  This might be a good time to break for the afternoon.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  9:30 tomorrow. 

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:25 p.m.
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